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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

JOHNCUTLER,
Haintiff,

V. CASENO. 08-cv-6630

)

)

)

)

)

)
QUALITY TERMINAL SERVICES, LLC, )
d/b/a Quality Terminal Services, Inc., a )
Colorado limited liability company, )
BURLINGTON NORTHERN SANTA FE )
RAILWAY COMPANY, a Delavare corporation, )
and PSYCHEMEDICS CORPORATION, )
aDelawarecorporation, )

Judge Robert M. Dow, Jr.

Defendants. )
MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiff John Cutler (“Plaintiff”) filed aseven-count amended complaint [30] against
Defendants Quality Terminal Services, LI@TS"), BNSF Railway Company (“BNSF*) and
Psychemedics Corporation (“Psychemediasi) March 27, 2009. The Court has jurisdiction
based on diversity of citizenship. 28 U.S.C. § 1388.of Plaintiff's claims arise out of a 2008
drug test, which resulted in Plaintiff being barred from a BNSF facility operated by QTS and
effectively ended Plaintiff's employment witQTS. The Court granted BNSF’s motion to
dismiss as to some of the counts, but Pfistclaims against BNSF for defamation (Count V)
and tortious interference with prospective economic advantgd@ount VI) survived. Plaintiff
also brought the following claims against QT#,04 which remain pending: violation of due
process pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (ColntQTS’s liability for the negligence of
Psychemedics (Count I); negligence by QTS (Cdlipntand intentional oreckless infliction of

emotional distress (Count VII).

! BNSF was improperly sued as Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railway Company.
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Defendant BNSF has moved for summary juegt [143] on all remaining claims, and
Defendant QTS also has moved, in two separaigons [95 & 142], for summary judgment on
all claims asserted against iDefendant BNSF also moved to k&i[165] Plaintiff's response to
BNSF's Local Rule 56.1 statementfafcts for failure to comply with Local Rule 56.1. For the
reasons stated below, the Court grants BNSF'somdo strike [165] but allows Plaintiff to
submit amended responses (already on file) to BBISEtements of fact consistent with the
Court’s discussion below. The Court alsamgs the summary judgment motions [95, 142, &
143] filed by BNSF and QTS.

l. Background

A. BNSF’'s Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Local Rule 56.1 Statement of Facts

Plaintiff filed a Local Rule 56.1(b) StatemesftMaterial Facts in Opposition to BNSF’s
Motion for Summary Judgent, which included both supplemdrtects and Plaintiff's response
to BNSF's Local Rule 56.1(a) Statement of MateRatts (“the Response to BNSF’'s SOF”). In
the Response to BNSF's SOF, Plaintiff providedtten objections or challenges to twenty-six
of BNSF’'s statements. Howeveas pointed out by Defendant in its motion to strike, almost
every one of Plaintiff's objectionsr challenges fails to either admit or deny the fact or to
provide any citations to evidence that raisegienuine issue of matarifact as to BNSF's
statement. BNSF asks the Court to strikeRlesponse to BNSF’'s SOF its entirety. Se€ady
v. Sheahan467 F.3d 1057, 1060-61 (7th Cir. 2006) (afing summary judgment where trial
judge relied solely on defendanstatement of facts becausaiptiff violated Local Rule 56.1);
Bordelon v.Chicago Sch. Reform Bd. of Truste233 F.3d 524, 527-28 (7th Cir. 2000) (striking
a statement of facts in its emtiy because Local Rule 12(Nyhich is now Local Rule 56.1(b),

was violated).



When analyzing Local Rule 56.1(b) statementsirts are not regred to “wade through
improper denials and legal argument @aich of a genuinely disputed faddbdrdelon 233 F.3d
at 529. Rather, fact statements are designé@adsist the court by organizing the evidence,
identifying undisputed facts,nd demonstrating precisely how easide propose[s] to prove a
disputed fact with admissible evidencdd. at 527 (citation omitted). “Opinion, suggested
inferences, legal arguments and conclusions are¢heoproper subject rttar of a [Local Rule
56.1] statement. Including legatguments in a [56.1] statemestwholly improper, redundant,
unpersuasive and irksome; in short, it advancéherethe interests of the parties nor of th[e]
court.” Servin v. GATX ogistics, Inc. 187 F.R.D. 561, 562 (N.D. Ill. 1999) (citation omitted).
Malec v. Sanford191 F.R.D. 581, 584 (N.D. Ill. 2000) (l@lgargument is improper within a
Local Rule 56.1 statement of fact§uydson Atkinson Candies Inc., v. Latini-Hoghberdgéi6 F.
Supp. 2d 913, 922 (N.D. lll. 2007) (legal argurhés improper withina Local Rule 56.1
statement of facts). In response to Defendantifion to strike, Plaintiff submitted his response
to BNSF’s motion to strike and a request tha @ourt allow him to file amended Local Rule
56.1(b)(3)(B) and (b)(3)(C) statements.

It is the function of the Court, with orithout a motion to strike, to review carefully
statements of material factachto eliminate from considerati any argument, conclusions, and
assertions that are supported by the documented evidenceeabrd offered in support of the
statement. See,g, Sullivan v. Henry SmiBlumbing & Heating Co., Inc2006 WL 980740, at
*2 n.2 (N.D. lll. Apr. 10, 2006)Tibbetts v. RadioShack Cor2004 WL 2203418, at *16 (N.D.
ll. Sept. 29, 2004)Rosado v. Taylor324 F. Supp. 2d 917, 920 n(NI.D. Ind. 2004). The
Court’s scrutiny of material statements of faepplies equally to éhparty seeking summary

judgment and the party opposing it.



Where a party offers a legal conclusion @atestent of fact without proper evidentiary
support, the Court will notansider that statemenMalec v. Sanford191 F.R.D. at 583. In the
present cases, both parties at sniave offered legal conclusioms their statements of fact.
Those conclusions will not baccepted by the Court as “facts.” In addition, where a party
improperly denies a statement of fact by failingptovide adequate or proper record support for
the denial, the Court deems that statement of fact to be admitted. Thus, any statements or
responses that contain legal clmstons or argument, are evasjwontain hearsay or are not
based on personal knowledge, are irrelevant, on@rgsupported by evidence in the record will
not be considered by the Court in ngion the summary judgment motions.

With these principles in mind, the Court giiDefendant’s motion to strike, but allows
Plaintiff to submit amended responses to Ddént's statements ofact, which will be
considered by the Court in ruling on the motiémssummary judgment. However, to the extent
that Plaintiff attempts to introduce new, suppletakfacts not previouslyaised in Plaintiff's
original statement of facts, the Court will not consider those new facts in ruling on the motions
for summary judgment. Plaintiff had all the facts available to him at the time that he filed his
response to BNSF’'s motion for summary judgmeiihe Court will allow him to amend the
technical defects in his responses—the gladngs being his failure to admit or deny BNSF’s
statements and his failure taecirecord evidence in support oértain denials—but the Court
will not allow him to inject supgmental facts into the recordefthe motions have been fully
briefed.

B. Facts

BNSF, a Delaware corporation with its corgi@ headquarters located in Fort Worth,

Texas, is a rail carrier which ages throughout parts of the UnitStates including in Cicero,



lllinois, where it owns an intermodal fatyl that was operated by QTS in 2008. Quality
Terminal Services, LLC (“QTS”), a Colorado limited liability company with corporate
headquarters located in Denver, Colorado, was contracted by BNSF to operate BNSF's
intermodal facility in Cicerolllinois, and did so through December 31, 2008. QTS provides,
among other things, “lift services” to railroads iatermodal yards. Lift services consist of
operating cranes or similar equipment to lift highvirailers or shippingontainers on and off of
railroad flatcars for long distance movement rokalroads. The service includes driving the
trailers and containers within the yard betwdles parking area and the tracks where they are
loaded and unloaded. This driving operation is called “hostling.”

On March 22, 2004, Plaintiff John Cutler was hired by QTS to work as a hostler for
QTS’s intermodal facility operations located @icero, lllinois (“the Cicero facility”). During
his employment with QTS, Plaintiff was a mesanlof Union Local 705which had a collective
bargaining agreement with QTS. In the sgrof 2008, Plaintiff learreethat BNSF would be
taking over QTS’s operations at the Cicero facility in 200BNSF, which was aware of the
collective bargaining agreement between QTS and Union Z&&linvited the QTS employees
to apply with BNSF for the positions that wey@ng to be vacated by QTS in 2009. On June 25,
2008, Plaintiff applied to be an intermodal gmuent operator witt BNSF. At BNSF, an
intermodal equipment operator acts as a hostlaver, hitch inspector, and/or securement
verifier.

On July 15, 2008, Plaintiff attended an ori¢iata held by BNSF. Athe orientation,

BNSF informed the applicants that they wouldrbquired to submit ta pre-employment drug

2 QTS's services for BNSF at the Cicero facilityreveorovided pursuant to an Intermodal Facility

Services Agreement between QTS and BNSF ditarth 1, 2006. On November 19, 2008, BNSF
formally notified QTS that BNSF did not intend tamesv the Agreement, which expired on December 31,
2008.



test. Plaintiff agreed to subinto the drug test, and, during tlaly 15 orientation, an agent of
Examination Management Services, Inc. (‘EM3Bpk a hair sample from Plaintiff's head for
drug testing. Cutler'slonor number, used to identify Hair sample, was 350-60-3557. Cutler
testified that the same straiglaizor was used to cut multiple sde® but also testified that the
EMSI employees had “an alcohol thing that thveiped the razor withn between * * * hair

cuttings.” Plaintiff's hair saple was sent to a laboratoag Psychemedics, a biotechnology
company located in Culver Citgalifornia, that provides druggeng services for businesses.

On August 15, 2008, Plaintiff received a leftem BNSF extending to him a conditional
offer of employment to join BNSF as an intermbdgquipment operator d@he Cicero facility.

Id. § 21. The August 15 letter stated that the offer was “contingent on the favorable outcome of a
pre-employment background screening,” inahgda “hair analysis drug screen.”

Psychemedics received Plaifis hair sample on August 18, 2008. The “tamper-evident
integrity seal on the collection pouch,” which wasiahed and dated by Cutler, and the seal on
the Sample Acquisition Card were both intact when Psychemedics received Plaintiff's hair
sample. Psychemedics performed the testPlamtiff’'s hair sample “in accordance with
standard laboratory practices in compliancghwthe laboratory opating procedures and
utilizing assay tests cleared by the US Food&g Administration spetically for hair drug
testing.” See BSNF's Ex. F, Cutler Laboratddpata Package, p. 1, @iication of Thomas
Cairns. Psychemedics extensively washednBlés hair sample to ensure there was no
contamination. Psychemedics verified, confirmedtbcked, and retestedaRitiff's drug test and
screening results. Psychemedics’s testing involvessteps: an initial screen of a portion of the
hair sample and a subsequent tdst second portion of the haample to confirm the presence

of any substance detected in the initial screeth of which were performed in this case.



According to the Psychemedics test analy€utler's hair corgtined “Cocaine at 8.7
ng/10 mg hair * * * and a Cocairmaetabolite, Benzoylecgonine (B&) 0.5 ng/10 mg hair.” See
BSNF Ex. F, Cutler Laboratory Data Packapge3, 1 5, Summary of Procedures & Results.
Psychemedics concluded that Cutler had stepk cocaine, which was demonstrated by the
presence of cocaine above the cutoff and @ioe metabolite, Benzoylecgonine, in his hair
sample. On August 22, 2008, Psychemedics notBi&F that Plaintiff'sdrug test came back
positive for cocaine.

Psychemedics sent the test result to Iyseph Thomasino, a medical review officer
working on behalf of BSNF. A naical review officer reviews theesults of toxicological tests,
and, in those instances where the test comes fasikve, checks to see if there are legitimate,
alternative medical explanatiorier a positive test result. Dr. Thomasino testified that he
followed his typical procedures meceiving the test results, contagt Plaintiff, investigating the
test result, and sending the confirmations to BNSF. It iswitbtn Dr. Thomasino’s province to
retest the sample; rather, hizvimv centered on assessing ttfein of custody for the sample
and investigating whether a legitimate medicqdlanation existed for the positive test result.

According to Dr. Thomasino, medical revienficer practice generally does not permit
the results of prior tests or s@ogient tests to bekian into account wheeavaluating the results
of a drug test. According to DiThomasino, “[tlhere’s no wato know that [a drug has] not
simply cleared by the time of][@econd test,” in cases whersecond negative s follows an
initial positive test. A negativeubsequent drug testsult means only that the person is “clear
by the time of the second test” basa “all things eventually clearith abstinence.” Thomasino
Dep. at 65:12 and 15-16; Freeman Dep. at pp. 56:18—Fhe following factors affect whether

an individual who tests positive on one drug test will test positive for the same drug on a



subsequent test: time between tests, ingesiginry, quantity used, frequency of use, potency
of drug, body weight, and metabolism. ThomasbDep. at 64:20-65:2. Hair testing can show
use of cocaine and heroin up to ninety dayisrpio when the hair sample was taken. For
instance, if a person uses cimeaor opiates, the drug use mididg detected on lair test done
three months after use but not on a subsequentdstidone three or fowveeks after that. In
many cases with hair samples, it is not possilol subsequently retest the original sample
because the entire sample is used during thaliratalysis. The hair sample for Plaintiff’s
subsequent drug test, which came back negatas, taken one month and ten days after the
samples for BNSF’s pre-employment tests.

On August 25, 2008, Plaintiff received a phaadl from Dr. Thomasino, who informed
Plaintiff that his pre-employment drug test resuwitere positive. During his phone call with Dr.
Thomasino, Plaintiff insisted that there was a&take or the results were wrong because he did
not use cocaine and had nefaled a drug test ding his four years witlQTS. Plaintiff further
requested that either a secondttbe performed on the remaig hair sample, or that the
remaining hair be sent to him so that he cdwalde a second test perioed. Neither request was
fulfilled by Thomasino, BSNF, or QTS.

On August 25, 2008, Plaintiff went to Concen@hicago, a local drug screening facility,
to have another hair sample taken for drudirngspurposes. Concentra Chicago sent the hair
sample taken from Plaintiff to Psychemedios testing. On August 26, 2008, Psychemedics
received this sample and performed a drigj tm the sample therma day. On August 28,
2008, Psychemedics reported that the resqflthe second test were negative.

On or about August 28, 2008, Plaintiffllea@ Martin Crespin from BNSF because

Crespin was listed as the contact person on Pay&tlies’ August 22, 2008 testsults. Plaintiff



informed him that he believed that the pre-employment test results were incorrect. He also
informed Crespin that he had another drugt feerformed by Psychemedics, which produced
negative results. Plaintiff also recptied that his initial hair sampleom the first test be retested.
Plaintiff testified that Mr. Crespin informed himathhis initial hair sample was not available for
retesting. As Plaintiff acknowdiged in his response to BNSFssatement of facts, neither
“BNSF’s nor QTS’s drug testg policies allow employees ®ubmit a second sample or the
results of a second drug test to appeathallenge a positive test.”

The Intermodal Facility Services Agreent between BNSF and QTS and Amendment
Agreement 1 to the same, both of which govertiedrelationship between BNSF and QTS at
the time of the events at issue in these cases, BESF the right to restrict any QTS employees
from the Cicero facility if BNSF reasonably believed they posed a threat to the safety or security
of BNSF’s operations. BNSF believes, and Pl#fidbes not dispute, thain individual working
on the premises of one of BNSkigermodal facilities who testsositive for illegal drugs poses
a threat to the safety of BNSF’s operatioddter receiving Plaintiffs positive pre-employment
drug test results, BNSF informed QTS that Ri#fi was barred from wdking at its Cicero
facility until such time as he satisfactoritpmpleted an employee assistance program for drug
use. On September 5, 2008, Plaintiff came toGiwero yard and was gn a letter from QTS
stating that he had been restricted from the ptpfreecause BNSF reported to QTS that Plaintiff
failed a pre-employment toxitmgical drug screen conductday or on behalf of BNSF.
Plaintiff's employment sttus was changed from “aat” to “inactive.”

While Plaintiff admits that there is noidence that BNSF conveyed any information to
QTS concerning the drug for which Plaintiff tesfgakitive or any other details of the test, there

is evidence that BNSF told QTS that Plaintiffssta be barred from the Cicero facility for failing



a drug test. For instancen or around August 28, 2008, Steu€lg, the Vice-President of
Human Resources of BNSF, sent an e-mail to Michael Burke and a number of other BNSF co-
workers, asking BNSF to limit its communicatioittwQTS regarding the giht employees to the
fact that these eight employeegere only restricted from th€icero yard as a result of
information obtained from them in accordandéhvtheir employment apigations to BNSF and
not include the reason for this restriction—namétg positive drug test results. However, the
record reflects that, prior to sending the e-nBNISF relayed to QTS th&tlaintiff had failed a
drug test. BNSF’s communicationathPlaintiff failed a pre-emplogent drug test took place at
approximately the same time that BNSF restdcPlaintiff’'s access to its property in private
conversations between a limited number ofSNand QTS personneBNSF never sought to
have Plaintiff terminated nor did it direct QTS to terminate him.

Neither BNSF’s nor QTS’s drug testing policies allow employees to submit a second
sample or the results of a secairdg test to appeal or challenggositive test. Employees of
BNSF and QTS who test pdsg# must go through an employee assistance program to be
permitted to return to work. Federal regulatiapplicable to BNSF require that employees who
have failed a drug test be ewated by a substance abuse wsi@nal and complete “prescribed
education and/or treatment” before returningh® “performance of safety-sensitive functions.”

49 C.F.R. 8 40.305. There is nothiimgthe record togggest that the reguians are applicable
to QTS; however, as setrfb previously, the intermodalgreement between BNSF and QTS
gave BNSF the right to restriany QTS employees from the Ciodacility if BNSF reasonably
believed they posed a threat to the safetgecurity of BNSF’s operations.

QTS entered into a service agreement with Bensinger, DuPont and Associates (“BDA”)

to administer employee referrals to counselingeatment programs, dtuding drug and alcohol

10



treatment programs. The agreement betvwgieA and QTS provides that BDA “will assign an
account manager to the Employer. The acconabager will be respoiide for contacting
Employer’s designated representatives, chimgu with the Employer on implementation,
organization issues and consulting on employseeis and needs * * * and regular assessment of
Enhanced Employee Assistance Program effeatis®fi The employee evaluation is performed
by BDA. The evaluation is congatial, and QTS is only told whether the employee participated
and successfully completed (or failed to complée program. The record reflects that BDA
performs its evaluation withoainy input from QTS.

QTS offered its employee assistance progranPlaintiff in an effort to have the
restriction on his access to BNSF's propergmoved. Plaintiff attended one employee
assistance program meetihgDuring the meeting, he was informed that unless he admitted to
drug use and acknowledged that thsults of the positey drug test were acrate, he would be
unable to complete the program. Plaintiff refusedtate that he haddaug problem or that the
Psychemedics’ test results were valit instead left the program.

Jeffrey Monahan, a labor relations consultant to QTS, testified that there were no
positions available at any QTS fatids that Plaintiff could transfer to at the time that he was
restricted from BNSF’s property. See JeffMgnahan Dep. at 54:10-35: In September 2008,
there were QTS locations open in New Englabdkland, two in Houston, Texas, and one in
Laredo, Texas. At that time, the nearest BINBF QTS facilities to t# Cicero yard where

Plaintiff had worked were Oakia or New England. The general manager of QTS testified that

® The record reflects that eight employees @SQwho applied for positions with BNSF failed pre-
employment drug tests and were restricted from BNSF's property. Two of those employees went through
QTS’s employee assistance program, had their restriction on access to BNSF's property lifted, resumed
actively working for QTS, and continued working foif' S through the end of 2008 when QTS’s contract

with BNSF terminated.
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QTS employees sometimes ask to be relocated to different facilities and, if positions are
available, QTS will assist them in their efforBlaintiff has not presented evidence that he asked
to be relocated to a new facility.

Plaintiff denies that he has used cocain@my other illegal drugs since 1987. Prior to
testing positive for drugs in August 2008, Pldintiad never failed another drug test during his
tenure at QTS. Plaintiffemployment with QTS was terminated on December 31, 2008, upon
termination of the Agreement with BNSF. Aseviously noted, he did not work between
September 5, 2008 and December 31, 2008, when he was placed on inactive status at BNSF’s
request.

Il. Standard of Review

Summary judgment is proper where “tipeadings, the discowe and disclosure
materials on file, and any affidavits show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact
and that the movant is entitled to judgmentasatter of law.” Fed. RCiv. P. 56(c). Factual
disputes that are irrelevant to the aute of the suit “will not be counted.Palmer v. Marion
County 327 F.3d 588, 592 (7th Cir. 2003) (quotation marks and citations omitted).
determining whether there is a genuine issuedf the Court “must construe the facts and draw
all reasonable inferences in the lighost favorable to #h nonmoving party.”Foley v. City of
Lafayette 359 F.3d 925, 928 (7th Cir. 2004). To aksummary judgment, the opposing party
must go beyond the pleadings and “set forth spetafits showing that ére is a genuine issue
for trial.” Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 250 (1986n{ernal quotation marks
and citation omitted).

A genuine issue of material faekists if “the evidence isuch that a reasonable jury

could return a verdict fothe nonmoving party.” Id. at 248. The party seeking summary
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judgment has the burden of establishing the laiclany genuine issue of material fact. See
Celotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). Summanglgment is proper against “a
party who fails to make a showing sufficient tdadédish the existence of an element essential to
that party’s case, and on which that pawtlf bear the burden of proof at trial.ld. at 322. The
non-moving party “must do more than simply shiat there is some metaphysical doubt as to
the material facts.”Matsushita Elec. Indus. Cd.td. v. Zenith Radio Corp475 U.S. 574, 586
(1986). In other words, the “mere existenceadgcintilla of evidencén support of the [non-
movant’s] position will be insufficient; therenust be evidence on which the jury could
reasonably find for the [non-movant]&nderson477 U.S. at 252.
lll.  Analysis

As previously set forth, BNSF moved tosndiiss all claims asserted against it in
Plaintiff's first amended complaint. The Cogranted BNSF’s motion withespect to Count Il
(BNSF’s liability for negligence by Psycheties), Count IV (negligence by BNSF), and the
tortious interference with corctual relations claim in Couil, but denied the motion with
respect to Plaintiff's claims against BNSF fdefamation (Count V) and tortious interference
with a prospective businessterest (also part of Count VI). Plaintiff also hasserted claims
against QTS for violation of dygrocess pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (Count I), liability for the
negligence of Psychemedicsdi@t 1), negligence by QTS (Courl); and intentional or
reckless infliction of emiional distress (Count VIf). The Court will address each claim in turn.

A. Violation of Due Process under § 1983

Plaintiff alleges that QTS violated § 1983 dgnying him pre-termination due process.

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, adiindual can bring aaction for damages for violations of the

4 Defendant Psychemedics has not moved for summary judgment.
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individual's constitutional rights.ld. For a § 1983 claim, a plaifftimust establish “that the
defendants deprived him of a rigt#cured by the Constitution laws of the United States, and
that the defendants acted undelor of state law.”” Lekas v. Briley405 F.3d 602, 606 (7th Cir.
2005) (quotingBrokaw v. Mercer Counfy235 F.3d 1000, 1009 (7@ir. 2000)); see alsBlum v.
Yaretsky 457 U.S. 991, 1002-03 (1982) (stating tktiz@ Fourteenth Amement “erects no
shield against merely private conduct, however discriminatory or wrdh@futernal quotations
omitted). When a plaintiff brings a 8 1983 alaagainst a defendant who is not a government
official or employee, the plaiiff must show that the privatperson or entity acted under the
color of state law. 42 U.S.C. § 1983; see &sgynolds v. Jamispd88 F.3d 756, 764 (7th Cir.
2007). The requirement “sets the line of dezation between those matiethat are properly
federal and those matters that must betéethe remedies of state tort law.” Sem. Mfrs. Mut.
Ins. Co. v. Sullivan526 U.S. 40, 50 (1999)ackson v. Metro. Edison Ga@l19 U.S. 345, 349-51
(1974). Both the Supreme Court and lower federal courts have acknowledged the difficulty of
determining whether a private entity hested under the color of state law. Stmdriguez v.
Plymouth Ambulance Servicg77 F.3d 816, 823 (7th Cir. 2009). At its most basic level, the
state action doctrine requires that a court fiudh a “close nexus between the State and the
challenged action” such that the challenged actinay be fairly treated as that of the State
itself,” Jackson 419 U.S. at 351, or may be “fairhttributable to the State.Rendell-Baker v.
Kohn 457 U.S. 830, 838 (1982).

In Blum v. Yaretskyd57 U.S. 991 (1982), the Supremeu@ held that “a State normally
can be held responsible for avaite decision only when it haxercised coercivpower or has
provided such significant encouragemh, either overt or covert,ahthe choice must in law be

deemed to be that of the Statdd. at 1004. The Supreme Court has set forth several tests for
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courts to employ in evaluating the “range of giristances” that might constitute state action.
Brentwood Acad. v. Tenn. Secondary Sch. Ath. AS8h U.S. 288, 295 (2001). According to
the Seventh Circuit, the variotssts can be categoed as (1) the symbiotic relationship test
(satisfied when private and public actors cauy a public function); (2) the state command and
encouragement test (satisfied when the stajaimes the actions of the private actor); (3) the
joint participation doctrine (satisfied when thevpte action is the same as the state action); and
(4) the public function test (satisfiaghen private activity is fairlyattributable to the state)).
Rodriguez577 F.3d at 823.

Despite the nominal existence of these tests, the Seventh Circuit has made clear that its
(and the Supreme Court’s) preceddrdase “revealed that these cadesnot so much enunciate a
test or series of factorshut rather demonstrate example$ outcomes in a fact-based
assessment.’Hallinan v. Fraternal Order oPolice of Chicago Lodge No, 370 F.3d 811, 816
(7th Cir. 2009) (citingBrentwood 531 U.S. at 295Tarpley v. Keistlerl88 F.3d 788, 792 (7th
Cir. 1999) (“All of the tests, dmite their different names, operate in the same fashion: [ ] by
sifting through the facts and whing circumstances.”)). Imdallinan, the Seventh Circuit
collected examples of circumstances where adijoa private party is propg attributed to the
state:

Private action can become state action when private actors conspire or are jointly

engaged with state actors to deprive a person of constitutional Dggmsis v.

Sparks 449 U.S. 24, 27-28 (1980); where thatstcompels the discriminatory

action, Adickes v. S.H. Kress & C&98 U.S. 144, 152 (1970); when the state

controls a nominally private entitia. v. Bd. of Dirs. of City Trust853 U.S.

230, 231 (1957); when it is entwinedtlvits management or contréyans v.

Newton 382 U.S. 296, 299, 301 (1966); when sit@te delegates a public function

to a private entityJerry v. Adams345 U.S. 461, 484 (1953)yest v. AtkinsA87

U.S. 42, 56-57 (1988Edmonson v. Leesville Concrete (&0 U.S. 614, 628

(1991), or when there is such a close nexus between the state and the challenged

action that seemingly private behavior mazably may be treated as that of the
state itself.Jackson v. Metro. Edison Cd.19 U.S. 345, 351 (1974).
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Hallinan, 570 F.3d at 815-16.

The thrust of Plaintiff's response to Q BSummary judgment motion can be summed up
as follows: QTS is a state actor because Bederal Railroad Administration (“FRA”) has
promulgated regulations requirirdyug testing of ceria railroad employees and, because of
these regulations, QTS and the government are Ulilidint participants” with respect to drug
testing. Plaintiff's argumerftils for several reasons.

First, Plaintiff has not put forth any evidenbat QTS’s operations at the Cicero facility
were directed or controlled by a government entitiiere is no evidencedhQTS entered into a
contract with a government entity or that ® Was acting pursuant to government coercion or
control. Furthermore, QTS did not send Ri#firfor the challenged dig test, administer the
drug test, or retain the company that admanesd the drug test. All QTS did was honor its
agreement with BNSF to bar Ri&ff from working atthe Cicero facility unk he successfully
completed an employee assistance program.

Second, even the most cursory review of dhee law reveals that private entity does
not act under color of state law merely by virtugafticipating in a highly regulated activity or
by complying with state or federal regulations. @@e. Mfrs. Mut. Ins. C9.526 U.S. at 50;
Jackson v. Metro. Edison Gal19 U.S. at 358-59 (“heavily reguiéd, privately owned” electric
company not a state actor for purposégourteenth Amendment); see aRendell-Baker457
U.S. at 841 (quotinglackson 419 U.S. at 350) (“state regtion, even if ‘extensive and
detailed,” d[oes] not make aility’s actions state action”))}olzgrafe v. Hinsdale Bank & Trust
Co, 2009 WI 3824651, at *2 (N.D. Illl. Nov. 13, 200®plding that “a private commercial entity
does not act under color of state law just by dinbaihg subject to stater federal regulations,

even when those regulations are extensivie¥ans v. Torregs1996 WL 5319, at *5 (N.D. Il
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Jan. 4, 1996) (stating that “individuals do not becataée actors merelyy acting in accordance
with state statutes”). Plaifitihas not presented any evidence that the government encouraged,
controlled, managed, or direct€g@TS’s activities in any way.Nor has Plaintiff presented
evidence that QTS is a railroad and subject ¢oRRA regulations cited biylaintiff. Rather, the
Federal Railroad Safety Act dB70 (“FRSA”) defines “railroactarrier” as “person providing
railroad transportation.” 49 8.C. § 20102(3). “Railroad trarmpation” is defined as “any
form of nonhighway ground transportation that ronsrails or electrongmetic guideways.” 49
U.S.C. § 20102(2). QTS provides lift servicesditroads in intermodal yards, and does not own
or operate trains. PlHaiff has not presented any evidencestmw that QTS fits within the
definition of “railroad carri€ror that QTS provides “raoad transportation.”

Plaintiff also claims that QTS acted undetotoof state law by virtue of performing a
public function. It is true that if the stateleigates a traditionally exclusive public function to a
private party, the private party can be coased a state actor for 8 1983 purposes. V8est v.
Atking 487 U.S. 42, 55-56 (1988). Hower, “the relevant questn is not simply whether a
private group is serving a ‘public function.’Rendell-Baker457 U.S. at 842. Rather, “the
guestion is whether the function perfeed has been traditionally te&clusiveprerogative of the
State.” Id. (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis in original). Plaintiff maintains,
without citation to relevant édence or legal support, thatténmodal operations of the kind
performed by QTS constitute a public functioRlaintiff's argument falters on the complete
absence in the record of any evidence that QTS has been delegated a function that has been the
exclusiveprerogative of the StatdRendell-Baker457 U.S. at 842.

Plaintiff bears the burden of establishing tQétS is amenable to suit under § 1983. For

the reasons explained above, Plaintiff has faileshadze a sufficient evidentiary showing on this
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aspect of his claim. Sdeswis v. Crossroads Medical Connectip@009 WL 1884377, at *2
(N.D. Ind. June 26, 2009) (“Assung that everything plaintiff Lewgi says in her complaint is
true * * * it is clear that she has been treated harshly and unfairly. That does not mean she has
suffered a violation of her rights for which legal remedy exists in federal court.”).
Furthermore, Plaintiff has failed to presemtsingle case that evesrguably supports his
position® Instead, he simply relies on mere allegatitwas QTS somehow is a state actor. Mere
allegations do not suffice at summary judgmenhterefore, Plaintiff's § 1983 claim fails.

B. Negligence

1. QTS’s Liability for the Alleged Negligence of Psychemedics

In Count Il of the first amended complaint, Plaintiff seeks to hold QTS liable for the
negligence of Psychemeditswhile nominally a negligence claim against Psychemedics based
on its alleged failure to propergnd accurately perform and reptré results of Plaintiff's drug
test, Count Il also seeks bold QTS liable for Psychemedics’ alleged negligence.

Plaintiff alleges that Psychemedics is an expert in the field of drug testing and, as such,
owes a “duty to properly and accurately perfommd aeport the results of its drug tests.” Cmplt.
1 59. lllinois case law recognizes that a “drustite) laboratory owes a duty of reasonable care
to persons whose specimens it tests dorployers or prospective employers.Stinson v.
Physicians Immediate Care, Lt&46 N.E.2d 930, 934 (lll. pp. 2d Dist. 1995); see al§alonis

v. Jewel Food Stores, InB83 F. Supp. 2d 1072, 1074 (N.D. B8D05). However, the question

> In support of his statement that “DefendddTS and the government were thus willful, joint

participants, or so intertwined in the drug testing m@moients such that the State effectively directed or
controlled Defendant QTS’ actiofi$laintiff cites only toHu v. Am. Bar Ass'rb68 F. Supp. 2d 959, 963
(N.D. Ill. 2008). InHu, the district court granted motions to dismiss by both defendants and dismissed
the plaintiffs’ claims with prejudice, finding that tipdaintiff failed to even allege that either defendant
acted under color of state. NothingHn remotely supports Plaintiff's theory that QTS was acting under
color of state law.

® The portion of Count Il asserted against BNSF was dismissed for failure to state a claim.
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remains whether QFS can be held vicariodi@ple for Psychemedics’ alleged negligefice.
Plaintiff argues that QTS is liable for the gksl negligence of Pyschemedics due to QTS’s
“adoption and implementation” of Psychemedic’s test results.

lllinois law provides that the negligence of one persorilwie imputed to another only
where a master/servant, principal/agenteomloyer/employee relationship exists. 3é®y v.
County of Cook640 N.E.2d 926, 928 (lll. 1994) (“[T]o impute the negligence of one person to
another, such persons must stand in a relatigrieity and there is no such thing as imputable
negligence except in those cases where suchvilypas master and servant or principal and
agent exists”) (quotingalmer v. Miller 43 N.E.2d 973 (lll. 1942))Alms v. Baum796 N.E.2d
1123, 1129 (lll. App. Ct. 1st Dist.0B3) (same). If Psychemedics was QTS’s agent, QTS “is
liable for the acts of [Psychemedics] penfi@d within the scope of the agencyGomien v.
Wear-Ever Aluminum, Inc276 N.E.2d 336 (lll. 1971). By camast, if Psychemedics is an
independent contractor, QTS “will not be helaariously liable for [Psychemedics’] tortious
acts or omissions” unless QTS retained “contnatr the operative details of [Psychemedics’]
work.” Madden v. Pascher2009 WL 3161787, at *14 (lll. AppCt. 1st Dist. Sept. 30, 2009);
see alscAguirre v. Turner Const. Cp582 F.3d 808, 815 (7th Cir. 2009) (noting that under
lllinois law, “no liability will be imposed on the employer general contractor unless the
evidence shows the employer ongeal contractor reta@a control over théncidental aspects’
of the independent contractor’s work”) (citation omitted).

“The test of agency is whether the allegethcipal has the right to control the manner
and method in which work is carried out by #ikeged agent and whether the alleged agent can

affect the legal relationships of the principalChemtool, Inc. v. Lubrication Tech., Ind.48

" Of course, this question assumes that Psyctiesiavas negligent, and, as demonstrated below,

Plaintiff has failed to present any evidence thatcRemedics breached its duty of reasonable care to
Plaintiff.
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F.3d 742, 745 (7th Cir. 1998) (¢ig cases). Although there is mgid rule for determining
whether an agency or an indedent contractor relationship etdsthe four major factors to
consider are: (1) thegit to control the manner in which vkois performed; (2) the method of
payment and whether taxes are deducted; (3) the level of skill requipedidom the work; and
(4) furnishing of necessary tools, materials and equipnamyg v. Silva,715 N.E.2d 708, 716
(ll. App. Ct. 1st Dist. 1999). Theght to control the manner iwhich work is performed is
considered the “hallmark of agencyaporovskiy v. Grecian Delight Foods, In€87 N.E.2d
268, 272 (lll. App. Ct. 1st Dist. 2003). Conversedyn independent conttor undertakes to
produce a certain result, but is not controlledeigard to how that result is achievddang, 715
N.E.2d at 716. “The existence and scope ofagancy relationship are questions of fact.”
Tribett v. BNC Mortgage, Inc. et ak008 WL 162755, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 17, 2008).

Here, Plaintiff has failed to present any evidence or argument that Psychemedics acted as
QTS’s agent. There are no facts from whichGloairt can reasonably infer the existence of such
a relationship. In support of his theory that QTS is liable for Psychemedleged negligence,
Plaintiff alleges that, under ¢h FRA regulations regarding wdy testing of transportation
employees, QTS “is responsible for meeting ablicable procedures and requirements of
workplace drug testing and is responsible for d@leons of its officials, representatives, and
agents in carrying out ¢hrequirements of the DOT agency regigns.” Cmplt. § 63. Plaintiff
further alleges that Psychemedics performed thg tist at issue, and that QTS “chose to rely
upon and authorize Psychemediosperform drug tests.’Id. § 65. Putting aside the fact that
Plaintiff has failed to present any evidence on ttsgas even the allegations fail to give rise to

an inference that QTS exercised any degreeonfrol over the manner in which Psychemedics
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performed the drug teSt. Given QTS’s lack of involvenm with the drug testing done by
Psychemedics, these regulations cannot plausiidyate to impose any duties or obligations on
QTS with respect to the drug test at issue anthicdy do not establish that Psychemedics is
QTS'’s agent for purposes of lllirotort law. Therefore, summapydgment in favor of QTS is
appropriate on Cournt. See alsaCarroll v. Fed. Exp. Corp.1995 WL 494590 (N.D. Cal. Aug.
15, 1995) &ff'd by 113 F.3d 163 (9th Cir. 1997) (finding thdeéfendant Federal Express was not
liable for the actions of the third-party that administered a drug test to a Federal Express
employee who was fired following a positive drug test).

2. Negligencdy QTS

Plaintiff also alleges negligence by QTfased on the federal regulations discussed
above. According to Plairftj the drug testing regulationgromulgated by the FRA impose
various duties on employers, including QTSThe Court previously dismissed the same
negligence claim with respect to BSNF.

The Court already has determined that faérug testing regulations do not impose any
duties on an employer in this context. Saeler v. Quality Terminal Services, In@009 WL
4674124, at *7-8 (N.D. lll. Dec. 4, 2009). Undelinbis law, the violation of a regulation,
ordinance, or statute designed gmtect human life or property igrima facie evidence of

negligence, meaning it is evidence that can batted by proof that the pgon acted reasonably

8 These same obvious defects imiRliff's pleading were noted by éhCourt in dismissing this same
claim against BNSF, yet Plaintiff has chosen tocped with exactly the same arguments in opposing
QTS’s summary judgment motion, without offeringyagvidence to the contrary. QTS’s connection to
Psychemedics and the drug test is even more tenhan BNSF’s connection, a fact which should have
been readily apparent to Plaintiff evatithe early stages of this case.

? Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that QTS had a duty urgi® C.F.R. § 219.701 tensure that the testing
standards utilized satisfy the standards prescribed by 49 C.F.R. & 4@d. Plaintiff further alleges that

QTS had a duty not to release the results of drug tests to third parties (citing 49 C.F.R. § 40.321), and to
notify Plaintiff of his right to test the split specimen and to cancel the results of the drug test when the
split sample was not available and the test sampkeimproperly destroyed (citing 49 C.F.R. 88 40.153,
40.187(d), 40.201(e)).
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under the circumstances. Seamp v. TNT Logistics Corp553 F.3d 502, 506 (7th Cir. 2009)
(“In a common law negligence action, a violationaostatute or ordinance designed to protect
human life or property iprima facieevidence of negligence; theolation does not constitute
negligenceper se”) (quoting Abbasi ex rel. Abbasi v. Paraskevoulaké$8 N.E.2d 181, 185
(1. 1999)). In other words, “ih statute defines what is due caresome activity, the violation

of the statute * * * presumptively establishes thia¢ violator failed to exercise due care.”
Cuyler v. U.S. 362 F.3d 949, 952 (7th Cir. 2004) (citatiomitted). Here, Plaintiff contends
that 49 C.F.R. § 40.4t seqdefined QTS’s duty of care.

As the Seventh Circuit explained @uyler, “the statutory definibn [of the standard of
care] does not come into play unless the toringfaiestablishes that the defendant owes a duty
of care to the person he injured * * *, because lialility depends on theiolation of a duty of
care to the person injured by thHefendant’s wrongful conduct.ld. (citations omitted). Put
differently, the existence of a duty and thedwh of a duty are distinct concepts. Seant v.
South Roxana Dad’s Clul886 N.E.2d 543, 551 (lll. App. Ct. 5th Dist. 2008) (“The existence of
a duty does not equate to a brea€lkluty. The two concepts arestinct and must be considered
separately.”). Consequently, the violationafegulation is evidencef a breach only if an
underlying duty exists. And “thmere fact that a statutiefinesdue care does not and of itself
create a duty enforceable by tort lawCuyler, 362 F.3d at 952. See alRecio v. GR-MHA
Corp., 851 N.E. 2d 106, 115 (lll. 2006) (“where a statot ordinance did natreate a private
right of action, its violation would only be relevantwhether the defendathtad acted with less
than reasonable care’ [but i]t would not havedffect of creating a duty to [the plaintiff] where
none existed”)Ross v. Dae Julie, Inc793 N.E.2d 68, 75 (lll. App. Ct. 1st Dist. 2003) (“While

alleged violations of codes which do not @ntlanguage creating a statutory duty may be
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evidence of failure to exercigeasonable care, the violatiode not create a duty where none
otherwise exists. * * * Accordingly, the allegedolations of these safety regulations and
standards cannot create a duty.”).

Here, Plaintiff's negligence claim is premised duties that he claims the federal drug
testing regulations impose on Q¥S.However, as the cases abalestrate, those regulations
cannot impose any duties on QTS that did not exist at common law. This Court is aware of no
common law duty imposed on employers with eggpto drug tests penfmed by third party
laboratories, and Plaintiff hasot identified any applicable oamon law duties. Furthermore,
Plaintiff has failed to presenhg evidence of negligence in thandling of Plaintiff's drug test,
beyond his assertion that he has ueéd drugs in 20 years. dlevidence fails to demonstrate
that QTS had any involvement with the drug tdsésl any duty with respect to the drug tests, or
took any action except that required of it underagreement with BNSF. Because Plaintiff has
failed to demonstrate the QTS esvhim a duty, QTS’s motion f@ummary judgmernis granted
as to Count Il

C. Intentional or Reckless Inflidion of Emotional Distress by QTS

Count VII of Plaintiff's firstamended complaint alleges that a claim of intentional or
reckless infliction of emotional sliress against QTS. Plaintiff maintains that, during the first
meeting of the employee assistance programagent of QTS told Plaintiff that unless he
admitted to having a drug abuse problem and thesedghat the test results were accurate, he

would not be allowed to complete the progrdhat he would never work for QTS again, and

19 To the extent that Plaintiff bases his negliceenlaim on a duty found elsewhere—for instance, a duty
arising out of the labor agreement between QT Stlamdinion—Plaintiff has failed to present admissible
evidence to support this theory. Indeed, Plaitiipproach to the whole summary judgment process
seems to be to revamp the theories originally &sdein his complaint, after those theories were
dismissed or at a minimum questioned by theur€ in ruling on BSNF's motion to dismiss.
Unfortunately for Plaintiff, changing theories durithge later stages of a case often leaves a party without
the evidence to support the new conclusionsthiststage, allegations are not enough.
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that he would not work in the railroad industiy turn, QTS maintains that it had a preexisting
contract with Bensinger, Dupont and Associatd8DA”) to act as its employee assistance
program provider. According to QTS, BDA rathistered the program as an independent
contractor and thus QTS cannot be hat@riously liable for its actions.

As this Court previously noted above amdits opinion granting in part Defendant
BNSF’s motion to dismiss, lllinoisourts have held that, “the gl@gence of one person will be
imputed to another only where a mastewant, principal/agent, or employer/employee
relationship exists.” Phillips v. Quality Teminal Services, LLC2009 WL 4674051 (N.D. Il
2009). Under the doctrine ofspondeat superipa principal will be held liable for the tort of his
agent when the tort is committed within the scope of the agent’s agémdl. v. Girl Scouts,
lllinois Crossroads Council, Inc.930 N.E.2d 1096, 1100 (lll. App. Ct. 1st Dist. 2010).
However, a principal will not be held liablerfdahe actions of an independent contractor.
Petrovich v. Share Health Plan Wiinois, Inc.,719 N.E.2d 756, 765 (lll. 1999).

The difference is defined by the level of amhtover the manner of work performance.
Horwitz v. Holabird & Root212 Ill. 2d 1, 287 (2004). An agency is a “consensual relationship
in which a principal has the right to control agent's conduct and an agent has the power to
affect a principal’s legal relationsResolution Trust Corp. v. Hardist269 Ill. App. 3d 613
(1995). An independent contractrelationship is one in whican independent contractor
undertakes to produce a given feswt, in the means and methaafsthe work, is not under the
order or control of the pesa for whom he does the workorwitz, 212 Ill. 2d at 13. A court’s
cardinal consideration in determining whether espe is an agent or andependent contractor,
“is the right to control the mannef work performance, regdes$s of whether that right was

actually exercised.”Commerce Bank v. Youthr@ees of Mid-lllinois,Inc., 333 Ill. App. 3d
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150, 266 (2002). Another factor of importance isithture of work perfaned in relation to the
general business of the employéVare v. Industrial Comm'r818 Ill. App. 3d 1117 (2000).
Other factors to consider argt) the right to discharge; Y2he method of payment; (3) the
provision of necessary tools, materials, andiggent; (4) whether taxes are deducted from the
payment; and (5) the level of skill require@ommerce Bani333 Ill. App. 3d at 153.

No single factor is determinative, ancekthignificance of each may change depending on
the work involved. Roberson v. Ildustrial Comm’'n225 Ill. 2d 159, 175 (1112007). The burden
of proving the existence and scope of an agertationship is on the party seeking to impose
liability on the principal. Adames v. Sheaha833 lll.2d 276, 299 (lll. 2009). Although the
existence of an agency relationship usually tgiastion of fact, it is an issue of law where the
facts relating to the tationship are undisputear no liability existsas a matter of lawKrickl,
402 Ill. App. 3d at 5.

Kimberly MacMillan, the VicePresident of Human Resousc®r the Broe Group (which
owns Omnitrax and its affiliated companiessluding QTS), testified that QTS entered into a
service agreement witBDA to administer the employee refals to counseling or treatment
programs. Ms. MacMillan subsequly learned that Plaintiff wasne of eight individuals from
the Cicero facility who testepositive on the BNSF drug tesBlaintiff was notified by QTS to
contact Carla Konece for coordination of refé¢srto the employee assistance program. All
employees of QTS who entered an employee assistprogram in 2008 wereferred to BDA.
Defendant has presented evidence that the di@isaconducted by BDAvere confidential and
were performed without any input from QTRTS and Omnitrax weraotified only that an
employee was participating successfully or Badcessfully completed the program. According

to Defendant, QTS did not direBDA as to how to perform the fiexral servicesor did they
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direct the manner in which the evaluations wewaducted. In turn, Plaintiff has not presented
evidence (by way of his statement of facts, asshequired to do) that he complained to QTS
after he attended the employee assistance prograomught to change the manner in which the
program was run; rather, the record reflects dhét Plaintiff attended one meeting, refused to
comply with the stated requirements, and never went back.

Plaintiff has failed to present sufficient evidence that QTS exerted control over the
manner in which BDA conducted the treatment progrdmsVhile QTS and BDA agreed to
work together to implement the program and asgesffectiveness, there is no evidence in the
record to show that QTS told BDA how to rite meetings or assess the individuals attending
the meetings or how to evaluate the individudisstead, the record reflects that the evaluations
conducted by BDA were confidential and weperformed without anyinput from QTS.
Furthermore, Plaintiff has not presented aewyidence that, after the meeting, Plaintiff
complained to QTS or asked QTS to consult VBIDA. Plaintiff simply disagreed with the

meeting protocol and did not return. Ptdfncannot now blame QTSparticularly where

" In his memorandum in support of summary judgmBlaintiff refers to and cites the labor agreement

between QTS and Local 705. None of the referetwé®e labor agreement are found in Plaintiff's Local
Rule 56.1 Statement of Material Facts in Oppositdm@TS’s Motion for Summaryudgment as to Count

VIl. See Docket Entry 159. The Seventh Circuiteatedly has held that a district court is within its
discretion to strictly enforce compliance withlidsal rules regarding summary judgment motions and the
Court will do so here. SeRatterson v. Indiana Newspapers, In889 F.3d 357, 359 (7th Cir. 2009);
Bordelon v. Chi. Sch. Reform Bd. of Trust&33 F.3d 524, 527 (7th Cir. 2000). Merely including facts

in a responsive memorandum is insufficient to put the issue before the Gdidwest Imports, Ltd. v.

Coval 71 F.3d 1311, 1313 (7th Cir. 1998)alec v. Sanford191 F.R.D. 581, 594 (N.D. Ill. 2000). As

the Seventh Circuit has stressed, facts are to be detifdrRule 56.1 statements, and it is not the role of
the Court to parse the parties’ exhibits to construefdiots. Judges are not ‘ilpigs, hunting for truffles
buried in briefs.” United States v. Dunked27 F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir.1991). It simply is not the court’s
job to sift through the record to firel/idence to support a party’s claidavis v. Carter452 F.3d 686,

692 (7th Cir. 2006). Adherence to Local Rule 56.1 gives the opposing party the opportunity to either
admit or deny the statement of fact, and to provide record support for either assertion. By not following
the rule, a party injects facts into the case that matdeen subject to the opposing side’s scrutiny, nor
presented to the court for its review. The QGowill not accept facts refenced in Plaintiff's
memorandum that are not set forth in his statement of facts.
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Plaintiff failed to present evidence at sumyardgment that QTS had any control over how
BDA conducted the program or that t@mplained to QTS about BDA.

Furthermore, Plaintiff's @im in Count VII is forintentional inflidion of emotional
distress not breach of contract or negligence as hinted at throughout his brief. To establish an
IIED claim under lllinois law, a plaintiff musprove that: (1) the defendant’s conduct was
extreme and outrageous; (2) tbdefendant either intended tause or was aware of a high
probability that his conduct would cause severe emotional distress; and (3) the defendant’s
conduct did in fact cause such distreBeeneisen v. Motorola, Inc512 F.3d 972, 983 (7th
Cir.2007) (citingFeltmeier v. Feltmeier207 Ill.2d 263, 278 lll.Dec. 228, 798 N.E.2d 75, 80
(11.2003)). With respeicto the first eément, the allegedly extreavand outrageous conduct was
that QTS, in honoring its operating agreement VBt4SF, restricted Plaintiff's access to the
Cicero facility and required Platiff to go to an employee assistance program before he could
return to work. No reasonable jury couldnclude that this conduct was so extreme and
outrageous as to go beyond the bounds of decency. e$eeKolegas vHeftel Broadcasting
Corp., 607 N.E.2d 201 (1992) (noting that the “condomttst be so extreme as to go beyond all
possible bounds of decency, and to be regaedeéhtolerable in a civilized community3.
Furthermore, there is no evidence that Defendatended to cause Pidiff severe emotional

distress; rather, the evidence suggests that @asSproviding Plaintiff with the only avenue it

12 plaintiff cites extensively t&outy v. Ohio Department of Youth Servjc&67 Ohio App. 3d 508

(2006), for the proposition that “QTS failed to penfoits obligations with care, skill, reasonable
expedience, and faithfulness when it accepted withaestion BDA’s determination that the plaintiff
was not in compliance with the EAP.” TH®uty decision, which does not even mention intentional
infliction of emotional distress, does not support ithkef requested by Plaintiff in Count VII, nor has
Plaintiff presented the evidence (by way of his stetenof facts) necessary to support a breach of
contract claim, or, as discussed previously, a negligence cl@imFouty, 167 Ohio App. 3d at 510
(finding breach of duty where the employee, who hagngested positive for drugs, was referred to an
employee assistance program and bef@eould get the matter cleared, the administrator sent a letter to
the employer indicating the employee had not participated).
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could to get Plaintiff back on the job. For taegasons, summary judgment in favor of QTS is
appropriate on Plaintiff's tentional infliction of emotional distress claim.

D. Defamation against BNSF

In Count V, Plaintiff brings a defamatiorlaim against BNSF.To state a claim for
defamation under lllinois law, a plaintiff must ajkethat the defendant made a false statement
about the plaintiff, that thereras an unprivileged publication ofetlstatement to a third party,
and that the publication deged the plaintiff.Ptasznik v. St. Joseph Hosp64 F.3d 691, 698
(7th Cir. 2006). Here, Plaintiflages that BNSF made a false statement to a third party when it
informed QTS that Plaintiff had failed the pre-eoyhent drug test. Plaifftalso alleges that
he suffered damages because he logbhias a result of the communication.

1. Falsestatements

BNSF maintains that Plaintiff cannot dsliah the false statement element of a
defamation claim because Plaintiff did in fact fhié drug test, such that any statement to that
effect was not false. “[T]rue statements carsupport a claim for defamation” because “[tJruth
is an absolute defense to defamatioHriilica v. Rizza Chevrolet, Inc893 N.E.2d 928, 931 (lll.
App. Ct. 1st Dist. 2008). A defendant needs onlghow the “substantial truth” of the alleged
statement to establish this defensd. Maki Const. Co. vChicago Regional Council of
Carpenters 882 N.E.2d 1173 (lll. App. Ct. 2d Dist. 2008).Substantial truth is demonstrated
when the defendant has shown that the “gist"sting” of the alleged defamatory statement is
true. Id.

Initially, the Court notes that Plaintiff hasot suggested that eéhresults reported by
Psychemedics indicate anything other thaat tRlaintiff had tested positive for certain

substances. Thus, to the extent that theyrately reflect what they appear to show—the
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presence of certain substances in Plaintifffsr—then any statement concerning the results
would appear to be true. Put another way, asdhatethe facts are identical to those presented
in this case, except that Plafhtested negative for drug usacaPsychemedics reported that the
test results were positive (when in fact the result indicated a negative test). The statement that
the test was positive would have been false.reHbe only evidence presented is that the result
of the test was positive and the only allegefdijge communication was that Plaintiff failed a
drug test. Even if the Psychemedics analysis imaerror, any statement that Plaintiff failed a
drug test would still be true. The statemenswat “John Culter used drugslf it had been,
then Plaintiff's testimony thahe had not used drugs in 2@ays would create an issue of
disputed fact. Rather, the allegedly false stat@mvas that Plaintiff tested positively for drug
use. And in fact, the only evidence in the redasrthat the result of the test was positive. See
alsoCaputo v. Compuchem Laboratories, |Mt994 WL 100084, at *4 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 13, 1994)
(finding “no justification in the factual record ar the law for plaintiff's position that liability
for either negligence or deafation can or should be imposegdon the defendaribr accurately
reporting a ‘lab positive’ drug test without assurthgt it was a ‘verified positive’ result” or for
failing to take further steps to camh the accuracy of the test).

The only way that such a statement might qualify as defamation is if the results reported
by Psychemedics were incorrétt. That is, the statement must have been false when
Psychemedics reported it. In support of his cldiat the drug test result was incorrect, Plaintiff
put forth the result of the drug test that he padformed on a hair sample taken a month and ten
days after his hair sample was taken for BNSKlsy test. But Plairffi has not presented any

evidence that a subsequent rtegadrug test, espedip one performed on a hair sample taken

13" The Court has not found a case which supportshairy, but in the interest of addressing Plaintiff's
arguments, the Court briefly considers it.
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significantly later, in any way indicates that a prior positive test was incorrect. Put differently,
Plaintiff has put forth no evidence that thesgamge of time would not affect the outcome.
Plaintiff therefore cannot rely onsubsequent test tofuge the “substantial truth” of statements
related to the original drug test any more tharctwld rely on tests takelday. In fact, it is
undisputed that the results oflater drug test on different hair samplelo not necessarily
indicate that the resultsf a prior test are incorrect. Variab affecting whether a drug shows up
on a subsequent test include time between tests, ingestion history, quantity used, frequency of
use, potency of drug, body weight, and metaboliginhus, a subsequent result cannot determine
the validity, accuracy, or truth @f prior test. There simply is no way to know that the drug has
not cleared by the time of the second test.

To prove the results were erroneous, Plaintiff would have to show a failure in the testing
procedure or negligence between when the famvps taken and wheBNSF got the results.
Yet Plaintiff has chosen not to depose anyviatlials from Examination Management Services,
Inc. (“"EMSI”), the independent oitractor hired by BNSKo take the hair samples. There is no
evidence in the record that EMSI committed any negligence in handling the hair samples.
Instead, both Psychemedics and Dr. Thomasewewed the chains of custody and tamper
evident seals, initialed by Plaintiff, and found theract. In addition, even if there had been
contamination somewhere between when EM®ktthe hair sample and when Psychemedics
tested it, which there is no evidenof, the record reflects theasychemedics extensively washed
the hair to decontaminate it before performmgsecond test to confirm the initial findings.
Similarly, Plaintiff has chosen not to deposny individuals from Psychemedics, which
conducted the drug tests. In performing the téstsrecord reflects that Psychemedics followed

standard practices, procedures, and testaretl by the US Food & Drug Administration.
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Psychemedics verified, confirme checked, and retested Pldffg¢ drug test and screening
results before reporting them to BNSF’s medieadiew officer, Dr. Thomasino. Psychemedics
performs a retest on all positive drug screens to ensure the results are correct, as it did in this
case. The last step in the process wagew by Dr. Thomasino. As with EMSI and
Psychemedics, there also is no evidence of neylig by the doctor. The record reflects that he
followed proper medical review predures in confirming the test results. There simply is no
evidence that EMSI, Psychemedics, or Dr. Themo committed any negligence in performing
the drug tests or that the sample was “contatenh switched, or procured through error.” See
Pl.’s Resp. at 6.

Plaintiff citesWigginton v. White364 Ill. App. 3d 900 (1st Dist. 2006), for his claim that
a jury could find the test results to be false, Wiggintonis inapposite for several reasons.
First, the case involved federalthggulated urine drug testingd. at 907. The Department of
Transportation prescribes specific procedured thust be followed when the drug testing is
covered by federal regulations. But the pre-awplent drug testing penfmed on Plaintiff was
not federally regulated, dbere is no set procedure to be followed. Second/iggintonit was
clear from the evidence presemhtat every step in the plaiffts appeal process that certain
federal regulations governing the drugtieg procedure had been violatéd. at 903—04. The
medical review officer had failed to inform tipdaintiff that she was entitled by regulation to a
split sample retest, if she requested one, and a hearing officer concluded that “federal procedures
governing drug testing were likely nfllowed in that it appearetthat ‘the original sample was
not a split sample.’Td. at 903-04. Thus, there were specifiguiatory violations at the center of

the plaintiff's claim that the drug test results were unreliable. But here, Plaintiff has no evidence
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to suggest that there were anglations of any procedures onyaother forms of negligence in
the testing process employed by BNSF.

FurthermoreWiggintoninvolved an administrative agenbgaring and judiail review of
the resulting decision, and the opinion does not enention the tort of defamation. There are
significant differences between an administratiearing officer’s adjudiation of a dispute and
a federal court’s adjudication of tlsame. The issues addressed by\Whggintoncourt were
whether the burden shifted aftéhe plaintiff made out a pna facie case and whether the
plaintiff had presented sufficient evidence & #uministrative hearing to meet her burddnat
905-910. Whether the plaintiff M/iggintonpresented sufficient evidence to state a prima facie
case challenging a decision made by the lllinois Secretary of State under 625 ILCS 5/6-
106.1(g)(5) has limited applicationree At play are different burdems different legal situations
involving different adjudicating bodies. Finally, tiddiggintondefendant presented no evidence
at all that the drug test results were reliable, while the plaintiff presented significant evidence that
they were not.Id. at 910-11. Here, the opposite is true.

Plaintiff essentially makes due process arguments to support his claim of defamation. He
argues that he was entitled to split samptests, which BNSF unreasonably denied him. But
whether he was defamed does not turn on whd8NSF afforded him an opportunity to clear
his name. It turns, among other things, on Wwhethe statements made by BNSF were false.
Furthermore, neither BNSF nor QTS provided for sdinple retests. Plaintiff may not like this
policy, but he has not stated a otadr presented any evidencestaygest that the policy violated

a law* Plaintiff has failed to raise a genuine issf material fact otthe question of whether

4" In its review of the case law, the Cousshfound cases in which plaintiffs challenged collective

bargaining agreements for the failure to providedplit sample tests or an avenue for challenging an
allegedly false positive drug test. Seqy, Williams v. Hitachi Zosen Clearing, Inc1987 WL 14095
(N.D. lll. Sept. 24, 1987) (finding that plainti§’defamation claim based upon dissemination of drug test
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any communication of the drug tessults was false, and thus Plaintiff has failed to establish the
first element of defamation.
2. Qualifiedprivilege

Even if Plaintiff had produced sufficient evidence to prove the other elements of
defamation, Defendant maintains that the alegemmunication by BNSF to QTS of the fact
that Plaintiff failed a drug test would be entitleal a qualified privilege. As a preliminary
matter, although BNSF asserts aalified privilege in its motn, it never asserted qualified
privilege as an affirmative defense to the defaomaclaim against it in its answer. In lllinois,
“[a] qualified privilege is an affirmative defense to defamatioB&bb v. Minder806 F.2d 749,
753 (7th Cir. 1986). However, “when parties argmeaffirmative defense in the district court,
technical failure to plead ¢hdefense is not fatal.DeValk Lincoln Mercury, Inc. v. Foriotor
Co, 811 F.2d 326, 334 (7th Cir. 1987). “Where the masteaised in the i@l court in a manner
that does not result in unfair surprise * * * teatalifailure to comply precisely with Rule 8(c) is
not fatal * * * * That is, the dieendant does not waive an affirthne defense if [h]e raised the
issue at a pragmatically sufficient time, and [the plaintiff] was not prejudiced in its ability to
respond.” Lucas v. United State807 F.2d 414, 417-18 (5th Cir. 198@§uotations and citations
omitted); see alsébbadessa v. Moore Bus. Forms, Jr992 WL 471273, *2 (D.N.H. Jan. 7,
1992) (affirmed by 987 F.2d 18 (1st Cir. 1993)) (coduig that in the absee of prejudice to
the opposing party, courts may allow affirmative defss to be raised for the first time in a post-
answer motion for summary judgment). Alltbé elements of the qualified privilege BNSF now
asserts have been at issue throughout thgatitin and have been the subject of extensive

discovery by all parties. Pamtlarly, the motivation, extent, timg, and recipients of BNSF’s

results among management was part of the discharge process, which is governed by the collective
bargaining agreementEstes v. Beta Steel Cor2006 WL 3542731, at *6 (N.D. Ind. 2006) (same).
However, the Court has not found any cases suppd?taigtiff’s defamation theory in this case.
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alleged communication have betie subject of discovery. S&epublic Tobacco Co. v. N. Atl.
Trading Co., Inc. 381 F.3d 717, 727 (7th Cir. 2004). None of these issues are new, nor can
Plaintiff be surprised by the argument that&Nrelayed the information to QTS because, under
the terms of the agreement, BNSF had a righestrict Plaintiff from the property following a
positive drug test. Furthermore, Plaintiff has @ssktheories in his responses to the summary
judgment motions that differ substeatly from the theories set fdrtin his complaih The Court

has considered those new theories and likewiBalso consider whether BNSF is entitled to a
gualified privilege in its communication with QTS.

“An otherwise defamatory statement mot actionable if made under a qualified
privilege.” Haywood v. Lucent Technologies, Int69 F. Supp. 2d 890, 916 (N.D. Ill. 2001)
(affirmed by 323 F.3d 524 (7th Cir. 2003)). “Té&estence of qualified prilege is a question of
law.” Id. “Illinois law confers a privilege upon ‘[sfiaments made within a legitimate business
context.” Republic Tobacco381 F.3d at 727. Under this rulga] statemenis conditionally
privileged when the defendant makes it (1)gmod faith; (2) with an irerest or duty to be
upheld; (3) limited in scope to dh purpose; (4) on a proper odecas and (5) published in a
proper manner only to proper partieRepublic Tobacco381 F.3d at 727 (citingeinfeld v.
Hayes Freight Lines, Inc243 N.E.2d 217, 221 (lll. 1968). A court must “weigh the value of the
type of interest to be protected against the degfelamage to be expected from release of the
type of defamatory matter involved.Haywood 169 F. Supp. 2d at 916-17. If a qualified
privilege is established, the communication lmees actionable only if therivilege was abused.

Id. at 917. “To satisfy this burden, the plaintifiuist present evidence of a ‘reckless act which

shows a disregard for the defamed party’s rightduding the failure to properly investigate the
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truth of the matter, limit the scope of the mmate or send the matel to only the proper
parties.” Id.

The record reflects that BNSF's communicatitat Plaintiff failed a pre-employment
drug test took place at approximigt¢he same time as BNSF restricted Plaintiff's access to its
property in private conversations between atéchnumber of BNSF and QTS personnel. BNSF
never sought to have Plaintiff terminated nat didirect QTS to terminate him. BNSF has a
right under its agreement with QTS to bar emypkes who tested positive for drugs from its
premises. There was a clear interest on BNSH'stpaestrict emploges who tested positive
for drugs from its property. BSF believes, and Plaintiff does ndispute, that an individual
working on the premises of one of BNSF'seirmodal facilities who tests positive for illegal
drugs poses a threat to the safety of BNS#perations. BNSF’s willingness to permit the
restricted employees to go through QTS’sptayee assistance program to regain access to
BNSF’'s property suggests that its actions wergood faith. The terms of the agreement gave
BNSF a right to restrict Plaintiff from thgroperty, but BNSF and QT&so provided Plaintiff
with an avenue to havbke restriction lifted.

On or around August 28, 2008, Steven Klug, the Vice-President of Human Resources of
BNSF, sent an e-email to Michael Burke (and edgdive other BNSF co-workers on the e-mail),
asking BNSF to limit its communication with QTS redjag the eight employees to the fact that
these eight employees were onBstricted from the Cicero yard as a result of information
obtained from them in accordance with theimpdogment applications to BNSF and not include
the reason for this restriction, namely the positirug test results. Theference that can be
drawn from the e-mail is that BNSF previously communicated the test results to QTS and then

determined that the proper course, going fody was to communicatenly that they were
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restricted from the yard as a result of infotimi obtained from them in accordance with their
employment applications to BNSF and not inclubde reason for this s&riction, namely the
positive drug test results. This e-mail does not evince malice—the interpretation urged by
Plaintiff—but rather an effort to curb the release of information to only what was necessary.
There simply is not sufficient evidence that aaynmunication of the fact that Plaintiff failed a
drug test was made by BNSF with malice.

Additionally, the undisputedatts demonstrate that the communication was limited in
scope in that QTS was never informed of thecdr drug for which Plaintiff tested positive nor
was it informed of any other details. QTS’s knadge of Plaintiff's testesult was limited to
the fact that he had failed drug test. This was sufficiennformation, and no more than
required, to satisfy QTS’s interests. Additibpacommunication would have been made on “a
proper occasion.” At the santiene that Plaintiff alleges #t BNSF made the communication,
BNSF was restricting Plaintiff's access to itoperty pursuant to theerms of its operating
agreement with QTS. The information was relearthe point at whicPlaintiff claims it was
revealed. Finally, there is no evidence to sgggieat BNSF’s alleged publication extended to
other entities or involved imgropriate methods. Thus, puldimn was “in a proper manner
only to proper parties.”

Finally, the Court may “weigh the value of thypé of interest to be protected against the
degree of damage to be expected from reledisthe type of defamatg matter involved.”
Haywood 169 F. Supp. 2d at 916-17. Here, BNSF hathtamest (and a ght under the terms
of the operating agreement) in restricting taccess of employees who tested positively for
drugs. BNSF also provided employees with aenae for getting back to work. On the other

hand, the damage to Plaintiff was great, as emeturned to work for QTS because he did not
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complete the employee assistance program and suffered distress and embarrassment from losing
his job. Although these particulaircumstances are unfortunatiee Court cannot conclude that

the damage to Plaintiff outweigthdBNSF's interest in taying the information. At best, it is a

wash, given the public safety concemisarent in BNSF’s business operations.

Plaintiff has failed to show that BNSF contited a “reckless act which shows a disregard
for the defamed party’s rights, imcling the failure to properly investigate the truth of the matter,
limit the scope of the material, or send the material to only the proper patiagwood 169 F.
Supp. 2d at 917. As discussed above, Plaihti$ failed to produce Sicient evidence to
suggest that BNSF should have beery of the test results. €he is no evidence of negligence
by EMSI, Psychemedics, or Dr. Thomasino. |l Af them followed standard procedures.
Subsequent negative results do not raise a sufficlallenge to prior positive results, especially
when based on samples taken a month and tenag@ys Thus, BNSF reasonably relied on the
results. While the evidence demonstrates BiEF alerted only the prop@arties, there is a
guestion of whether the evidence could haeerblimited as suggested by Klug's e-mail, or
whether it was necessary to copwbat Plaintiff failel a drug test. But ew if it would have
been more appropriate to limit the informatias set forth in the e-mail, the Court cannot
conclude (i) that it was reckless to state thatiriff had failed a drug test or (ii) that BNSF
acted with any malice in doing s@hus, even if Plaintiff had been able to demonstrate that the
statement was false, BNSF did not abuse the dgaldrivilege, and the alleged statement is not
actionable.

E. Tortious Interference with a Progective Economic Interest by BNSF

Count VI alleges tortious interference withntractual relations ainst BNSF. In ruling

on BNSF’s motion to dismiss, the Court concludhdt Plaintiff stated a claim for tortious
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interference with a prospectiveconomic advantage but failed to state a contractual relations
claim. Seeg.g, Canel and Hale, Ltd. v. Tohirvy10 N.E.2d 861, 871 (lll. App. Ct. 1st Dist.
1999) (under lllinois law, “[a]n aatin for tortious interference witbontractual relations is not
the proper vehicle for a discharged [at-will enyae] seeking to recov@lamages;” rather, an
action for tortious interference with contract that is terminable &tll is classified as one for
intentional interference with pspective economic advantag&§torm & Associates, Ltd. v.
Cuculich 700 N.E.2d 202, 210 (lll. App. 1st Dist998). Thus, on summary judgment, the
Court addresses only whether Plaintiff has puthfeufficient evidence to show a triable issue
over whether BNSF tortiously interfered walprospective economic advantage.

The elements of such a clamne: *’(1) a reasonable expaocy of entering into a valid
business relationship, (2) the defendant’'s knowleafgthe expectancy, {3an intentional and
unjustified interference by the defemddhat induced or causedbaeach or termination of the
expectancy, and (4) damage to the plaintifuieng from the defend’s interference.”’Evans
v. City of Chicago434 F.3d 916, 929 (7th Cir. 2006) (quotidgderson v. Vanden Dorpd67
N.E.2d 1296, 1299 (1996)). With resgh to the third element, “aghtiff must show not merely
that the defendant has succeeded in ending tagoreship or interferig with the expectancy,
but * * * [that] the defendant has conitted some impropriety in doing so.Dowd & Dowd,
Ltd. v. Gleason816 N.E.2d 754, 768 (lll. App. Ct. 1st Dist. 2004).

Here, Plaintiff demonstrated that he had existing employment relationship with QTS
and a reasonable expectation of continued empoym The record also reflects that BNSF was
aware of the employment réf@nship and that BNSF prohibiePlaintiff from entering the
Cicero facility despite knowing #t doing so would cause Plaifitto be on inactive status.

However, the facts found in the redado not give rise to liability.
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To begin, Plaintiff has conceded that BNSF hadght to restrict Plaintiff’'s access to its
property. See Pl’s Resp. to BNSF’'s SOF { @8cfntested). Thus, Plaintiff must show that
BNSF committed some “impropriety” by restricting his acc&swvd, 816 N.E.2d at 768. But
rather than showing impropriety, BNSF appearsawe acted consistent with its agreement with
QTS. The positive test result, which was revadvy BNSF’s medical review officer, justified
BNSF's actions. Furthermore, Plaintiff was ip@sition to regain acce$s BNSF’s property if
he completed QTS’s employee assistance program. If anything, BNSF’s willingness to allow
two other employees to regain access to thegptp@fter successfully completing the program
demonstrates good faith on the parthed employer, not impropriety.

Plaintiff argues that his cla of tortious interference can be sustained by the
communication of the test results to QTS—aither words, it was improper to tell QTS that
Plaintiff had failed a drug teskn support of his argument, Plaih presents many of the same
arguments he presented in fawdrhis defamation claim. And asdid in responding to the
defamation claim, BNSF maintains that, tce tlextent that BNSF's d@onhs in restricting
Plaintiff's access can be deemed tortious interfee, its action were privileged. “Under lllinois
law, a qualified privilege protectsmployers’ officers from being sudar tortious interference.”
Adelman-Reyes v. Saint Xavier Universg§0 F.3d 662, 668 (7th Cir. 2007) (citiiéelch v. IIl.
Sup.Ct.,751 N.E.2d 1187, 1197 (2001)); see adiov. Shaw481 F.3d 942, 945 (7th Cir. 2007)
(“In the corporate world, officers enjoy immunifyjom * * * [tortious interference] claims
provided that they took the action in pursuit of the legitimate interests of the company.”);
Fellhauer v. City of Genev&68 N.E.2d 870, 877-79 (lll. 1991) (holding that public employee
discharged by official in charg# hiring and firing did not stata claim for tortious interference

with economic advantage). The privilege candieised (and thus lost) if the employer acts
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maliciously.Welch,751 N.E.2d at 1197. “In theontext of a suit for toius interference with a
prospective economic relationship, the termliolaus’ * * * means intationally and without
justification.” Delloma v. Consolidation Coal C®96 F.2d 168, 171 (7th Cir. 1993).

BNSF’s actions were taken tosme its business interesthaving a drug free workplace
and maintaining the safety and setyuof its operations, consistentth its agreement with QTS.
Both BNSF and QTS have pdks that require an employde go through an employee
assistance program before returning to work if the employee tests positive. Under those policies,
employees are not entitled to challenge thetpasdrug test results with subsequent negative
test results. Federal regulations applicableBMSF also require that employees in safety-
sensitive functions who fail a drug test be evaluated by a substémise professional and
complete “prescribed education and/or treatmdaafore returning to work. Consequently, it
was reasonable for BNSF to restiPlaintiff’'s access to its propgrand require him to complete
an employee assistance program, even if it knevithvould lead to th employee’s termination
if he declined to participat@ the program. The evidence simply does not support a finding that
BNSF acted without justifetion or with malice. Cf. Voyles v. Sandia Mortgage Coyp.51
N.E.2d 1126, 1133 (lll. 2001) (holdingahtortious intedrence claim premised on allegedly
inaccurate credit reporting cannot succeed whenrégage servicer truthfully reports a loan as
in foreclosure, even when the underlying events leading to the forexlamidisputed and the
loan is later reinstated}dukic v. Aurora Loan Service$88 F.3d 420, 433 (7th Cir. 2009).
Similarly, for the reasons stated amalyzing Plaintiff's defamationlaim, Plaintiff also fails to

demonstrate that BNSF acted maliciously.

* % % %
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In sum, accepting Plaintiff's contention thathned not used drugs in 20 years, the events
in this case leading to his suspension fremark and ultimate dismissal are unfortunate.
Furthermore, although it may be true that thereasing use of drug testing for employment
purposes raises questions concerning the datiesl by entities seekingnd using the tests to
current or prospective employees subjected totekes, the fact that there are reasons to be
concerned about the uses, potential misusesbases of drug test gelts does not justify
imposing additional and unprecedented duties uponrdeafes in this case, particularly when
there is no evidence of any negligersurrounding the test at issueerhaps it is an issue to be
addressed in agreements betwesployers and unions, but on tlaets presented by this record
and pursuant to the claims brought by Plaintiffere simply is no liabty on the part of
Defendants in these circumstances.

IV.  Conclusion

For these reasons, the Court grants BN$#kasion to strike [165] and also grants the
summary judgment motions [95, 142, & 143] filed by BNSF and QTS. No claims remain
against Defendants BNSF and QTS. The Courttbtsnatter for a status conference on March
14, 2012, at 9:00 a.m., to detenm which claims, if any, renva pending as to Defendant

Psychemedics.

%

Dated: February 29, 2012

RobertM. Dow, Jr.
UnitedState<District Judge
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